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Aug. 13—If another major terrorist attack like the Sept. 
11, 2001 hits on the World Trade Center and the Penta-
gon, or the Sept. 11, 2012 armed assault on the Beng-
hazi, Libya U.S. Mission occurs, you can blame it on 
George W. Bush, Barack Obama, and the British and 
Saudi monarchies. The wellspring of all significant in-
ternational terrorism today is the Anglo-Saudi imperial 
alliance, expressed most vividly in the 1985 Al-Yama-
mah arrangements between London and Riyadh that 
persist to this day.

Al-Yamamah (“The Dove”) was ostensibly an arms-
for-oil barter deal, first brokered by then-Saudi Arabian 
Ambassador to the United States, Prince Bandar bin-
Sultan, and then-British Prime Minister Margaret 
Thatcher. Under the cover of the arms-for-crude-oil 
deal, over the succeeding 28 years, hundreds of billions 
of dollars in cash have been squirreled into offshore 
banks accounts in such notorious havens as the British 
and Dutch Caribbean Islands, Switzerland, and Dubai.

Those funds have bankrolled nearly 30 years of 
global terrorism and coups d’état, dating back to late-
1970s British and American sponsorship of the Afghan 
“mujahideen” which spawned al-Qaeda and every other 
Muslim Brotherhood offshoot now imposing a reign of 
terror across the entire Islamic world, and into Africa, 
Europe, and the Americas.

Beginning in the mid-1980s, Al-Yamamah slush 
funds bankrolled the Afghan “resistance,” separatist 
wars in Africa, and the 1990s conflicts in the Balkans 

following the collapse of the Soviet Union and the 
Warsaw Pact. An honest and thorough investigation—
yet to be accomplished—would all-but-certainly reveal 
that Al-Yamamah funds bankrolled the 9/11 terrorists.

The existence of an Anglo-Saudi top-down com-
mand over al-Qaeda and every other jihadist front group 
is well known within some circles at the highest levels 
of the U.S. government—dating back decades. But the 
successive Bush (41 and 43) and Obama administra-
tions have presided over a brutal coverup of this Anglo-
Saudi treachery, making them complicit before, during, 
and after the fact, in terrorist atrocities that have claimed 
tens of thousands of lives globally, and provided the pre-
text for every police-state tyranny that has been wrought 
on the United States over the past dozen years.

The single most glaring case of coverup of the An-
glo-Saudi terror is the refusal of the George W. Bush and 
Obama administrations to release the 28-page chapter 
from the final report of the Joint Congressional Inquiry 
probing the 9/11 attacks, which catalogued the roles of 
the Saudi Ministry of Defense and Aviation, Saudi Ara-
bia’s General Intelligence Directorate (GID), and then-
Saudi Ambassador to the United States, Prince Bandar 
bin-Sultan, in the financing and protection of teams of 
9/11 hijackers (see accompanying documentation).

Had Presidents George W. Bush or Barack Obama 
released those 28 pages, and allowed a thorough inves-
tigation into the role of British and Saudi intelligence in 
the September 2001 attacks, it is quite possible that 
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Ambassador Christopher Stevens and the other Ameri-
can diplomats and security officers who were killed or 
injured in the 2012 attacks on the Benghazi Mission 
and CIA Annex, would still be alive today. Thousands 
of others, killed or injured in Iraq, Afghanistan, Yemen, 
Libya, Syria, Mali, and other frontline battlegrounds, 
too, might have avoided their fate. And the enormous 
buildup of the Big Brother espionage state that has now 
finally been partially exposed by the Edward Snowden, 
IRS, and other recent revelations, could never have 
been allowed or justified.

In addition, as the result of the failure to expose and 
wipe out the Anglo-Saudi authorship, funding, and pro-
tection of the global jihadist- and narco-terrorist nexus, 
the so-called “Global War on Terrorism” has been 
turned into one of the biggest criminal hoaxes in modern 
history.

Virginia Republican Rep. Frank Wolf has gathered 
the signatures of more than 160 House Republicans de-
manding the creation of a Congressional Select Com-
mittee to probe the Sept. 11, 2012 attacks on the Amer-

ican facilities in Benghazi, Libya. The 
Obama White House is desperate to 
block any such investigation. In tandem 
with the release of the buried 28 pages 
from the earlier Congressional Joint In-
quiry into the original 9/11 attacks, such 
a Benghazi inquiry could unearth the 
actual roots of the two greatest terror 
atrocities against the United States since 
the British sacking of Washington and 
the burning of the White House in the 
War of 1812.

An Open Secret
The suppression of those 28 pages 

has been repeatedly cited by former 
Sen. Bob Graham (D-Fla.),  Lyndon La-
Rouche, authors Anthony Summers, 
Robbyn Swan, and others, as the crucial 
element in a far-broader coverup of the 
roots of modern irregular warfare and 
terrorism.

Much of the evidence of the deeper 
oligarchical roots of global irregular 
warfare is hidden in plain sight.

•  In December 2000, the editors of 
EIR submitted a memorandum to then-
Secretary of State Madeleine Albright, 

calling for a formal investigation to determine whether 
Great Britain should be put on the State Department’s list 
of state sponsors of terrorism. The EIR document was 
based exclusively on formal complaints and evidence 
submitted by governments from every continent, all de-
tailing the fact that Great Britain had provided safe haven 
and logistical support to terrorist organizations, including 
the Chechen separatists (Russia), the narco-terrorist 
FARC (Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia), Sen-
dero Luminoso (Peru), the Kurdish Workers Party 
(Turkey), Gamma al-Islamiya (Egypt), Ansar al-Sharia 
(Yemen), the Libyan Islamic Fighting Group (Libya), 
and the Islamic Guerilla Army (Algeria).

The EIR memorandum named Osama bin Laden, 
who, at the time, was maintaining a home in Wembley, 
England, and operated a propaganda office in London 
under the protection of the British Crown, as a subject 
for investigation.

•  In 2007, EIR published exclusive evidence about 
the true nature of the Al-Yamamah-BAE Systems proj-
ect and the offshore terror funds. Among the evidence 

NASA/Paul E. Alers

Queen Elizabeth and her “deadly virus” consort Prince Philip run the Empire 
with one determined commitment—the reduction of the world’s population to less 
than 1 billion—by terrorism, famine, disease, and/or war.
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presented by EIR was material drawn from a 
semi-official biography of Prince Bandar, 
which detailed the offshore sequestration of 
Al-Yamamah profits and their use to arm the 
Afghan mujahideen, African governments, 
and other agencies engaged in “the fight 
against communism.” Prince Bandar boasted 
in that book that the Al-Yamamah deal was a 
product of the unique relationship that existed 
between the British and Saudi monarchies, 
which allowed for the build-up of a massive 
“black fund” with no governmental oversight.

That EIR exposé included details, pro-
vided in public locations by Senator Graham 
and others, detailing some of the evidence of 
the Saudi official funding of 9/11.

When the investigations into the BAE-
Saudi program threatened to blow up the 
Anglo-Saudi controlling hand over al-Qaeda 
and other jihadist terror, British Prime Minis-
ter Tony Blair ordered the Attorney General 
to shut down the probe on “national security 
grounds.” To this day, Al-Yamamah barter 
deals between BAE and the Saudi Defense 
Ministry continue to feed the offshore terror slush 
funds.

•  In 2010, Ian Johnson wrote a book-length account 
of the British and American intelligence services’ long-
running sponsorship of the Muslim Brotherhood, A 
Mosque in Munich, which catalogued the 1960s emer-
gence of the Muslim World League as the international 
recruitment arm of the Saudi-funded global jihadist 
terror. The Johnson account demonstrated that the An-
glo-Saudi intelligence “special arrangements” predated 
Al-Yamamah by decades.

•  Also in 2010, British researcher Mark Curtis 
wrote another book-length account, Secret Affairs—
Britain’s Collusion With Radical Islam, based largely 
on declassified British Foreign and Commonwealth 
Office and MI6 documents, showing that the British 
Crown intelligence service has been the sponsor and 
controlling force behind the rise of the Muslim Brother-
hood and all of its even more violent offshoots, dating 
back to the organization’s founding in the British-occu-
pied Suez Canal Zone in Egypt in the 1920s.

•  The History Commons, a little-known but impor-
tant online archive (www.historycommons.org), has as-
sembled over 20,000 news entries—all from public 
sources—detailing the Anglo-Saudi links to the 9/11 

hijackers and other brutal acts of mass terror. It is an 
open secret, frequently publicized in the British media, 
that “Londonistan” is the capital of global jihadist ter-
rorism. Despite the EIR effort in late 2000 to shut down 
the British Crown’s transparent alliance with Saudi 
Arabia in sponsoring worldwide terrorism and separat-
ist insurgency (Chechnya, Kurdistan, Kashmir, etc.), 
London remains the protector and recruitment hub for 
terrorism on every continent to this day.

The issue before us is not the availability of evi-
dence. The issue is that leading government circles in 
Washington, London, and Riyadh are committed to 
covering up the Anglo-Saudi responsibility for 9/11, 
Benghazi, and other atrocities. Until and unless that 
coverup is broken, no one is immune from attack. The 
fact that two successive American Presidents—George 
W. Bush and Barack Obama—have put their personal 
imprimatur on the coverup of the British and Saudi 
monarchies’ role in funding and orchestrating terrorism 
is grounds for prosecution and impeachment.

Anglo-Saudi ‘Thirty Years War’
The British alliance with Saudi Arabia to promote 

global terrorism and genocide has been a dominant 
policy for more than 30 years. Back in the mid-1970s, 

EIRNS/Stuart Lewis

The strategy of building up al-Qaeda and modern Muslim terrorism as a 
weapon against nations can be largely traced to “academic” and British 
intelligence agent Dr. Bernard Lewis, shown here speaking in Washington, 
D.C., in 2003.
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Dr. Bernard Lewis, a leading British intelligence “Ori-
entalist,” called for an “Arc of Crisis” extending across 
the southern tier of the Soviet Union, from the Cauca-
sus to Central Asia and into Western China’s Xinjiang 
Province. Lewis called for Western intelligence spon-
sorship of an Islamic fundamentalist jihad against the 
“Godless communist monolith.”

The “Bernard Lewis Plan,” as it came to be known, 
gridded precisely with the official policy of the British 
monarchy to reduce the world population to below 1 
billion people, through war, disease, and famine. Lewis 
was dispatched to the United States in the mid-1970s, 
where he sold the British new Thirty Years War scheme 
to such prominent American national security figures as 
Dr. Zbigniew Brzezinski, Dick Cheney, Michael 
Ledeen, Richard Perle, and the entire coterie of neocon-
servatives who would come to populate two Bush ad-
ministrations.

In effect, the “Bernard Lewis Plan,” promoted by 
the British Crown and adopted by the Carter, Reagan, 
and Bush administrations, fostered a Thirty Years War 
that rages to this day. Starting in Afghanistan, London 
and Riyadh, with the complicity of dupes and traitors in 
Washington, created a global “dark age” legion of fa-
natical suicide fighters, who have gone from Afghani-
stan to Iraq, Syria, Libya, and beyond.

The sponsorship of this “new dark age” project is a 
top-down affair. The policy of the British monarchy is 
vast population reduction. They have a witting ally in 
Saudi Arabia, despite the fact that some of the very ji-
hadist forces unleashed with London sponsorship and 
Saudi funding will ultimately bring down the Saudi 
monarchy itself.

Senior U.S. intelligence sources have confirmed 
that the “new” British policy for the entire Islamic 
world is the promotion of a permanent sectarian con-
flict between Sunni and Shi’a, exploiting a 1,000-year-
old split within Islam, with the goal of mass genocide.

One of the most important British assets in this 
global genocide scheme is Prince Bandar. Trained in 
Britain, Bandar was not only the Saudi interlocutor 
with the British Crown and BAE in forging the original 
Al Yamamah deal. As Saudi Ambassador in Washing-
ton (and as practically an adopted son of George H.W. 
Bush), Bandar presided over the Saudi intelligence of-
ficers who shepherded the 9/11 hijackers for a year, 
leading up to the September 2001 attacks. His wife, 
Princess Haifa, provided cover for Bandar’s direct fi-
nancing of at least one team of the hijackers.

Today, Bandar is in an even more prominent posi-
tion, as national security advisor to King Abdullah, and 
as head of the Saudi GID intelligence service. It is 
Bandar who is behind the deployment of thousands of 
“dark age” suicide fighters into Syria and Lebanon, to 
guarantee that the Sunni versus Shi’ite conflict reaches 
a critical mass of killing and hatred to last a century.

Bandar, however, is a foolish pawn in a much bigger 
game, a game controlled from London, not Riyadh. 
That oligarchical game is one of divide-and-conquer. 
Ultimately, it is a game of mass population reduction on 
a scale never before seen in history.

It is that British policy that must be stopped. The 
suppressed 28 pages from the Congressional Joint In-
quiry are the crucial entry point for exposing the true 
nature of the Sept. 11, 2001 attacks and all that fol-
lowed. Open that door and the entire Anglo-Saudi war 
against civilization can be exposed. From Bandar to 
BAE to the British Crown, the true masterminds of the 
heinous crime of 9/11 can be revealed. Those in the 
United States who have been complicit in the coverup 
of that crime can and must, as well, be brought to jus-
tice—including those currently occupying the highest 
office in the land.

The Al-Qaeda 
Executive

 Financed and deployed 
 by the British-Saudi  
 Empire, al-Qaeda has 
been protected by the Obama Administration 
to accomplish the Empire’s global war. In 
this feature video, LaRouchePAC documents 
President Obama’s use of the al-Qaeda networks 
to overthrow Qaddafi in Libya, and to carry out 
bloodly regime-change against Assad in Syria, by 
the same forces who attacked the U.S. consulate 
in Benghazi.

www.larouchepac.com
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Aug. 12—Twelve years ago 
next month—on Sept. 11, 
2001—four teams of hijack-
ers commandeered large pas-
senger jetliners on coast-to-
coast flights, and flew three of 
those planes into targets in 
New York and Washington, 
D.C., killing almost 3,000 
perons. Of the 19 men that 
made up the hijacking teams, 
15 were Saudi Arabian. Many 
of them, particularly the 
pilots, had been living in the 
United States for a year or 
longer, and had been taking 
flying lessons at well-known 
flight schools.

As former Sen. Bob 
Graham (D-Fla.), who co-
chaired the Congressional 
Joint Inquiry, has repeatedly stated, there was in exis-
tence before 9/11 an extensive, state-sponsored support 
apparatus inside the U.S. which allowed the hijack-
ers—most of whom had never been in the United States 
before—to live here and train, and to coordinate their 
attacks in an astoundingly successful manner, from 
their standpoint.

That support apparatus was first uncovered in San 
Diego by Senator Graham’s investigators in 2002, 
when it was revealed how financial support for the hi-
jackers had been funnelled through a Saudi intelligence 
agent, and the wife of Saudi Ambassador Prince Bandar.

The funds involved, as EIR has uniquely 
documented,1 were derived, at least in large part, from 

1.  Bandar’s funds were likely derived from the Al-Yamamah project 
slush funds skimmed from the Saudi-British/BAE aircraft and oil deal. 
See box; also “9/11 Secret Partially Revealed,” EIR, Sept. 16, 2011, and 
other EIR articles on the BAE scandal.

the British-Saudi Al-Yama-
mah slush fund, consisting of 
funds skimmed from the 
British-Saudi oil-for-aircraft 
deal exposed in the BAE 
scandal.

Despite the clear evi-
dence of the state sponsor-
ship of the 9/11 attacks by 
Great Britain and Saudi 
Arabia, the Bush-Cheney 
Administration launched mil-
itary attacks on two nations 
which had only peripheral 
involvement (Afghanistan), 
or no involvement at all 
(Iraq).

And, as we shall show, the 
Bush Administration system-
ically suppressed the evi-
dence of the British-Saudi 

role, most notably in the case of the still-classified 28-
page section of the Congressional Joint Inquiry’s final 
report, which is reliably reported to deal with the Saudi 
role.

When Barack Obama took office in January 2009, 
he promised to get the 28 pages released, but instead, 
has undertaken his own full-throated defense of the 
Saudis, and his own coverup of their role.

Moreover, when another important component of 
the Saudi hijacker-support network was discovered in 
2011, centered in Sarasota, Fla., the Obama Adminis-
tration went into full coverup mode to prevent any of 
this evidence from becoming public.

Twelve years is long enough! When one consid-
ers the human and financial cost of the “war on 
terror,” which has left the true authors of the 9/11 at-
tacks untouched, it is high time to break through the 
coverup, starting with the immediately release of the 
28 pages.

Bush and Obama Joined at the Hip in 
Shameless Coverup of Anglo-Saudi 9/11

Creative Commons/Obama-Biden transition team

Joined in policies, joined in coverup.

http://larouchepub.com/eiw/public/2011/eirv38n36-20110916/46-49_3836.pdf
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Saudis Were Protected Pre-9/11
On Jan. 8, 2000, two known Saudi terrorists carry-

ing U.S. visas, Nawaf al-Hamzi and Khalid al-Mihd-
har, arrived in Los Angeles, where they were readily 
admitted into the United States. A couple of weeks later, 
a known Saudi intelligence officer, Omar al-Bayoumi, 
brought them to San Diego, where he settled them, and 
introduced them to the Saudi community. As was later 
discovered in the course of the Congressional Joint In-
quiry, both Bayoumi and a second Saudi agent, Osama 
Bassnan, conduited large sums of money from the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and its Ambassador to the 
U.S., Prince Bandar,  to Hamzi and Mihdhar.

In May, the two new arrivals began taking flying 
lessons. At the local mosque, they met Prof. Abdussat-

tar Shaikh, who was on the 
payroll of the San Diego FBI 
office, assigned to monitor 
the Saudi community. In 
June 2000, when Mihdhar 
temporarily left the U.S., 
Hamzi moved into the home 
of FBI informant Shaikh.

Al-Mihdhar spent the 
next year abroad, recruiting 
the “muscle” for the hijacker 
teams. In June 2001, he 
easily obtained a new multi-

ple-entry visa from the 
U.S. Consulate in 
Jeddah.

Although Mihdhar 
personally seems to 
have visited the U.S. 
Consulate, he didn’t 
need to. By this time, 
the U.S. Embassy in 
Saudi Arabia had insti-
tuted new proce-

dures—called “Visa Ex-
press”—which allowed any 
Saudi to obtain a visa for 
entry into the United States 
without personally appear-
ing at the consulate! (One of-
ficial called this “an open-
door policy for terrorists.”)

And, it wasn’t just the 
State Department that gave 

the Saudis special treatment. Graham recounts how he 
learned in the course of his investigation, that U.S. Cus-
toms officials were taught in their training, that “Saudis 
are different.” One Customs agent, who had risked his 
job by questioning and denying entry to Mohammed al-
Qantani, a Saudi who, unbeknownst to the agent, was 
being met at the airport by hijacker-to-be Mohammad 
Atta, later told Graham that, in Graham’s words, “a 
Saudi encountered in the course of duty is to be treated 
with deference and special respect.” His fellow agents 
told him he was “crazy” to deny entrance to a Saudi.

The case of Hamzi and Mihdhar illustates one facet 
of—to put it mildly—the blind spot that was endemic 
among large sections of the U.S. political establishment 
and the intelligence community toward the Saudis and 
their sponsorship of what became known as al-Qaeda. 
The Bush Administration’s resistance to taking seri-
ously the body of intelligence about al-Qaeda and the 
impending attacks on the United States, has been docu-
mented by, among others, former White House counter-
terrorism advisor Richard Clarke and former CIA Di-
rector George Tenet. In the White House, this blindness 
toward al-Qaeda and its Saudi sponsors was centered 
on Vice President Dick Cheney and National Security 
Advisor Condoleezza Rice, and in the Pentagon, on De-
fense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld and his top advisors, 
including Paul Wolfowitz, Stephen Cambone, and 
Doug Feith.

These officials all viewed the Saudis as important 
allies of the United States and Britain. This went back 
most immediately to the post-1979 war against the So-Nawaf al-Hamzi

Omar al-Bayoumi

Khalid al-Mihdhar

Vice President Dick Cheney, National Security Advisor 
Condoleezza Rice, and senior staff immediately after the 9/11 
attacks. The coverup begins.
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viets in Afghanistan—in which the U.S., Britain, and 
the Saudi Arabia were the primary backers and funders 
of the mujaheddin fighters; and then, the 1980s Iran-
Iraq War, in which the policy of the British, and of many 
in the U.S., was to let both sides bleed each other to 

death. On the British side, the Saudi alliance was under-
scored by the 1985 Al-Yamamah oil-for-aircraft deal, 
of which one critical component was a multi-billion-
dollar terrorist slush fund administered in part by Prince 
Bandar (see box).

Al-Yamamah: 
Funding Terrorism

Aug. 12—In EIR’s cover feature on June 22, 2007,1 
Counterintelligence editor Jeffrey Steinberg first laid 
out the secret deal between the Saudi royal family, 
and the British arms manufacturer BAE Systems, 
which holds the key to the funding of international 
terrorism globally. The name of that deal is al-Yama-
mah; it was signed by the British and Saudi defense 
ministers on Sept. 25, 1985.

The al-Yamamah deal was structured as a barter 
arrangement, with the British providing aircraft, and 
the Saudis providing oil. Saudi Arabia agreed to pro-
vide Britain with one tanker of oil per day, for the life 
of the contracts, which have been renewed a number 
of times since. An oil tanker holds approximately 
600,000 barrels of oil.

BAE Systems began “official” delivery of the 
Tornado and Hawk planes to Saudi Arabia in 1989. 
BAE Systems now has approximately 5,000 em-
ployees inside Saudi Arabia, servicing the contract.

Is it possible to place a cash value on the oil deliv-
eries to BAE Systems? According to sources familiar 
with the inner workings of al-Yamamah, much of the 
Saudi oil was sold on the international spot market at 
market value, through British Petroleum and Royal 
Dutch Shell.

EIR economist John Hoefle has charted the finan-
cial features of the oil transactions, based on BP’s 
own daily tracking of world oil prices on the open 
market. Using BP’s average annual cost of a barrel of 
Saudi crude oil, Hoefle concluded that the total value 
of the oil sales, based on the value of the dollar at the 
time of delivery, was $125 billion. In current U.S. 
dollar terms, that total soars to $160 billion.

1.  “Scandal of the Century Rocks British Crown and the City.”

Based on the best available public records, the 
total sticker price on the military equipment and ser-
vices provided by BAE Systems to Saudi Arabia, 
over the 22-year period to date, was approximately 
$80 billion. And those figures are inflated by billions 
of dollars in slush fund payouts. Indeed, a limited-
damage scandal around al-Yamamah erupted in No-
vember 2006, during which a British Ministry of De-
fence document revealed that the prices of the jets 
had been jacked up by at least 40%.

Thus, BAE Systems, a crown jewel in the City of 
London financial/industrial structure, secured some-
where in the range of $80 billion in net profit from 
the arrangement—in league with BP and Royal 
Dutch Shell! Where did that money go, and what 
kinds of activities were financed with it? The answer 
to those questions holds the key to the power of An-
glo-Dutch finance in the world today.

The biographer (2006) and friend of Prince 
Bandar bin Sultan, who brokered the deal for the 
Saudis, William Simpson has provided an insight: 
“Although al-Yamamah constitutes a highly uncon-
ventional way of doing business, its lucrative spin-
offs are the by-product of a wholly political objective: 
a Saudi political objective and a British political ob-
jective. Al-Yamamah is, first and foremost, a political 
contract. Negotiated at the height of the Cold War, its 
unique structure has enabled the Saudis to purchase 
weapons from around the globe to fund the fight 
against Communism. Al-Yamamah money can be 
found in the clandestine purchase of Russian ord-
nance used in the expulsion of Qaddafi’s troops from 
Chad. It can also be traced to arms bought from Egypt 
and other countries, and sent to the Mujahideen in Af-
ghanistan fighting the Soviet occupying forces.”

In effect, Bandar’s biographer confirms that al-
Yamamah is the biggest pool of clandestine cash in 
history—protected by Her Majesty’s Official Secrets 
Act and the even more impenetrable finances of the 
City of London and the offshore, unregulated finan-
cial havens under British dominion.
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‘Clean Break’
Saudi Arabia and other (Sunni) Arab Gulf states 

were integral to the 1996 “Clean Break” strategy 
cooked up by U.S. neo-cons such as Richard Perle and 
Doug Feith, and Israeli right-wing Likudniks. “A Clean 
Break: A New Strategy for Securing the Realm,” issued 
by the Institute for Advanced Strategic and Political 
Studies in Jerusalem, called for Israel to ally with 
Turkey and Jordan, in targetting Iraq and Syria, and to a 
lesser degree, Iran. (Later, in 2006, Cheney and Condi 
Rice were calling for an anti-Shi’ite, anti-Iran alliance 
to be composed of Israel and the Sunni states of the Per-
sian Gulf, including, notably, Saudi Arabia.)

In the pre-9/11 period, Rumsfeld and his neo-con 
advisors were particularly dismissive of warnings, de-
rived largely from NSA intercepts, about impending al-
Qaeda attacks. Journalist Bob Woodward, in his State 
of Denial account, reports that in June 2001, Rumsfeld 
challenged the CIA’s assessment of Osama bin Lad-
en’s plans, asking if this were some kind of grand de-
ception. Tenet, in his memoir At the Center of the Storm, 
reports that he was approached by Cambone, the Un-
dersecretary of Defense for Intelligence, in July 2001, 
with the same question: Were al-Qaeda’s threats a de-
ception, intended to tie up our resources and expend our 
energies on a phantom threat? Tenet says that Wolfow-
itz, the Undersecretary of Defense for Policy, was rais-
ing the same question. To the extent that Rumsfeld’s 
Pentagon was focussed on threats, and not just manage-

ment issues, their attention was on the 
neo-cons’ favorite “axis of evil” targets, 
Iraq and North Korea.

The Rumsfeld-Wolfowitz mindset 
continued right up through the 9/11 at-
tacks. For a couple of days after Sept. 
11, Rumsfeld and Wolfowitz refused to 
accept that the attacks were carried out 
by al-Qaeda, insisting instead that 
Saddam Hussein was responsible. On 
the afternoon of 9/11, Rumsfeld actually 
ordered the Pentagon to begin making 
plans for retaliatory air strikes against 
Iraq.

Despite the close relationship be-
tween the Saudi royal family and the 
Bush crowd in Texas,2 tensions between 
the Saudis and the new President George 
W. Bush were on the rise during the 
Summer of 2001, as the younger Bush 

unequivocally backed the Israelis, and blamed the Pales-
tinians, for the violence in the West Bank and Gaza. 
After Saudi Crown Prince Abdullah turned down an 
invitation to visit the White House, the President’s father, 
George H.W. Bush, personally intervened to assure the 
Saudis that his son’s “heart is in the right place.”

On Aug. 23, after President Bush had backed a par-
ticularly brutal Israeli operation on the West Bank, 
Abdullah ordered Bandar to confront the White House. 
Bandar took the message to the Administration in a 
meeting with Rice on Aug. 27, in which he threatened 
to break the longstanding alliance with the United 
States. Bush quickly backtracked, assuring Bandar that 
his Administration would support the creation of a Pal-
estinian state. Bandar flew to Riyadh with a personal 
message for Crown Prince Abdullah from Bush. When 
Bandar returned to Washington, he went to the White 
House and met personally with Bush, Cheney, Rice, 
and Secretary of State Colin Powell, on Friday, Sept. 7. 
Discussions continued over the weekend of Sept. 8-9, 
and Bush invited Bandar to return to the White House 
the following Thursday, Sept. 13.

The terrorist attacks on Sept. 11, with 15 of the 19 
hijackers being Saudis, did nothing to disrupt Bush’s 
and Bandar’s plans. Incredibly, two days later, on Sept. 

2.  Craig Unger, House of Saud, House of Bush (New York: Scribner, 
2004). The account of the Bush-Bandar relationship is largely drawn 
from Unger’s account.

White House Photo/Eric Draper

President Bush and Saudi Ambassador Prince Bandar in Crawford, Tex., Aug. 27, 
2002. The Prince was implicated in funding the 9/11 attacks the previous year, but 
that didn’t disrupt their friendly relationship.
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13, Bandar—who had financed and controlled the 9/11 
hijackers—was indeed back at the White House, smok-
ing a cigar with Bush on the secluded Truman Balcony.

Over the previous 48 hours, Bandar had been in 
constant contact with the White House, arranging for 
the flight of at least 140 Saudis—members of the royal 
family, and of the extended bin Laden family—out of 
the United States. Despite the fact that all commercial 
aircraft in the United States were grounded, special 
chartered flights began picking up Saudis around the 
country on Sept. 13. Although both the White House 
and the FBI initially denied authorizing the flights, 
Bandar and other Saudi diplomats had no such reti-
cence: They declared that the evacuation had been ap-
proved at “the highest level of the U.S. government.”

Astoundingly, at the time when a thousand Arabs 
and Muslims across the U.S. were being arrested and 
detained on the slightest suspicion of terrorist links, 
privileged members of the Saudi royal family and of the 
bin Laden family were allowed to flee the United States, 
without the FBI or anyone else being allowed to inter-
view them!

The Congressional Joint Inquiry
Meanwhile, by the end of September, Graham, as 

chairman of the Senate Select Committee on Intelli-
gence, had arrived at an agreement with Rep. Porter 
Goss (R-Fla.), the chairman of the House Intelligence 
Committee, to pool their resources and to conduct a 
joint investigation, rather than the House and Senate 
each doing their own probe. They met with Bush, 
Cheney, and other Administration officials, who all 
promised full cooperation.3

In February 2002, after the second session of the 
107th Congress had convened, Graham and Goss for-
mally announced the creation of the Joint Inquiry. But 
within days, Graham learned that bin Laden and al-
Qaeda were no longer the Administration’s priority: 
Military and intelligence resources were being shifted to 
prepare for a war in Iraq. Graham, while at MacDill Air 
Force Base in Tampa for a briefing from the military’s 
Central Command, was stunned, and then furious: All 
the Administration’s promises about rooting out terror-

3.  Bob Graham, Intelligence Matters: The CIA, Saudi Arabia, and the 
Failure of America’s War on Terror (New York: Random House, 2004); 
see also Jeffrey Steinberg, “Bob Graham, a Man with a Mission,” EIR, 
Sept. 21, 2012. Unless otherwise indicated, the account of the Congres-
sional Joint Inquiry is taken from Graham’s book.

ism, and destroying al-Qaeda, were being scrapped.
During the Summer of 2002, the Joint Inquiry, and 

its specially hired professional staff, proceeded on its 
investigations and preparation for public hearings, with 
an end-of-the-year deadline, when the 107th Congress 
would end. When Mike Jacobson, a former FBI coun-
terintelligence analyst working on the committee staff, 
came across an FBI informant’s report on Hamzi, the 
staff asked the FBI what else they had; weeks went by 
with no response. While Jacobson and another investi-
gator for the Joint Inquiry were preparing for a visit to 
the FBI’s San Diego field office, staff director Eleanor 
Hill was summoned to meet with top FBI officials about 
“a very sensitive issue,” which turned out to be that of 
the FBI informant who, it was admitted, had indeed 
known Mihdhar and Hamzi quite well. The FBI, on 
direct instructions from the White House, delayed, 
stalled, and obstructed the Joint Inquiry; the informant 
was relocated, and was never produced for questioning.

In November 2002, the FBI disclosed to Graham 
and Goss in a letter, that it was the Bush Administration 
that was behind the stonewalling. “We were seeing in 
writing what we had suspected for some time,” Graham 
wrote; “the White House was directing the coverup.”

In San Diego, the Inquiry’s investigators discovered 
the Saudi money trails to the hijackers Mihdhar and 
Hamzi. One trail led from Saudi government agencies, 
through the Saudi spy in San Diego, Bayoumi, who 
passed funds on to the hijackers; the second trail began 
with Princess Haifa (the wife of Prince Bandar), and 
continued through a second Saudi intelligence agent, 
Osama Bassnan, to the hijackers. Princess Haifa was 
also a sister of Prince Turki bin-Faisal, then the head of 
Saudi intelligence agency GID.4

9/11? What Was That?
As the Joint Inquiry moved toward public hearings 

in September 2002, the Bush Adminstration’s stone-
walling increased. This included stalling on declassifi-
cation of documents, and resistance to providing wit-
nesses. As Graham put it, “The more we learned, the 

4.  When top al-Qaeda official Abu Zubaydeh spilled the beans on the 
Saudi royal family members who were directly financing al-Qaeda, and 
other evidence of Saudi financial support was found, the evidence was 
suppressed; three of the Saudi princes he named, including Prince 
Ahmed bin Salman, turned up dead with months. See Edward Span-
naus, “Abu Zubaydeh Case Shows Fraud of NSA’s Dragnet Surveil-
lance,” EIR, June 21, 2013.

http://larouchepub.com/eiw/public/2012/eirv39n37-20120921/09-12_3937.pdf
http://larouchepub.com/eiw/public/2013/eirv40n25-20130621/36-40_4025.pdf
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less curious the Administration seemed about what had 
happened on September 11.”

After the public hearings concluded on Oct. 2, the 
Joint Inquiry spent the next two months preparing its 
Final Report, which contained findings of fact, and rec-
ommendations for improving the collection, sharing, 
and use of intelligence. The Report, in its full, classified 
version, was filed on Dec. 20, 2002. Then followed 
many months of battle to get sufficient portions of the 
Report declassified, so that the public could see some 
version of it.

Finally, on July 24, 2003, a heavily redacted version 
of the Report was released to the public. Graham says he 
agreed that several of the censored sections were prop-
erly withheld in the interests of national security. But, he 
says, “there was one area that did not need to be kept 
secret, and it was the one area where the White House 
refused to relent,” explaining: “This was, not surpris-
ingly, the section of the report related to the Saudi gov-
ernment and the assistance that government gave to 

some and possibly all of the 
September 11 terrorists.”

This was the now-famous 
28 pages, which begin on 
page 395 of the Report. This 
section begins by referring to 
information concerning “spe-
cific sources of foreign sup-
port for some of the Septem-
ber 11 hijackers while they 
were in the United States.”

Both Graham and Rich-
ard Shelby (Ala.), the Re-
publican co-chair of the 
Senate Intelligence Commit-
tee, reviewed the 28 pages, 
and said that 95% of the in-
formation in those pages 
could be released without 
harm to the national security.

Graham attributed the 
suppression of the 28 pages 
to the White House, not the 
CIA or the FBI, and he later 
said that this, in itself, was 
sufficient grounds to im-
peach President Bush.5

The 9/11 Commission
From the outset, Bush and Cheney were opposed to 

any investigation, and particularly to any public airing 
of the intelligence failures prior to 9/11. Already in Jan-
uary 2002, Cheney had called Senate Majority Leader 
Tom Daschle to demand that he shut down any public 
airing of pre-9//1 intelligence. During the course of 
2002, under heavy pressure from the families of 9/11 
victims, the White House was forced to agree to the cre-
ation of an independent, bipartisan commission to con-
duct a full investigation of the 9/11 attacks. The Na-
tional Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the 
United States (the “9/11 Commission”) was estabished 
by an act of Congress in November 2002—while the 
Congressional Joint Inquiry was still finishing up its 
work. While intended to be independent of the White 
House, it was in fact surreptitiously controlled from the 

5.  Anthony Summers and Robin Swan, The Eleventh Day (Ballantine 
Books, 2011), p. 420.

FEMA

“The more we learned” about the attacks, said Sen. Bob Graham, who co-chaired the 
Congressional Joint Inquiry, “the less curious the Administration seemed about what had 
happened on September 11.” Shown: the remains of the World Trade Center following the 9/11 
attacks.
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outset by the Bush-Cheney White House, which 
blocked any investigation of the real state sponsor of 
terrorism—Saudi Arabia—and instead used the Com-
mission to try to rally support for an attack on Iraq.

White House Deputy Chief of Staff Karl Rove over-
saw the White House’s choice to chair the Commission. 
The first choice was Henry Kissinger, a selection which 
alarmed many, including families of 9/11 victims.

In mid-December a delegation of 9/11 family mem-
bers met with Kissinger in the Manhattan offices of 
Kissinger Associates, to demand that he make public 
his client list. When he explained why he could never 
do this, 9/11 widow Lorie van Auken got right to the 
point: “Do you have any Saudi clients?” Startled by the 
question, Kissinger lost his balance, spilled his coffee, 
and abruptly called the meeting to a close.6

The next morning, Kissinger called the White House 
and resigned. The following day, Rove called the patri-
cian former Governor of New Jersey, Thomas Kean, to 
ask if Kean would consider taking the position vacated 

6.  Philip Shenon, The Commission: The Uncensored Story of the 9/11 
Investigation (New York: Hatchette Book Group, 2008), p. 13.

by Kissinger. When Kean accepted, and came to 
the White House to meet with Rove, White 
House Chief of Staff Andy Card, and National 
Security Advisor Rice, he got the same, uniform 
message from all of them: “We don’t want a run-
away commission. We want you to stand up.”

Over time, a baffled Kean realized that what 
they meant, was that he should “stand up” for 
the President, i.e., protect the President at all 
costs.

The primary means by which the White 
House controlled the 9/11 Commission was 
through the insertion of Philip Zelikow as the 
Commission’s executive director. The ambitious 
and arrogant Zelikow had served on Condi 
Rice’s transition team in December 2000-Janu-
ary 2001, and had been instrumental in the de-
motion of White House counterterrorism advi-
sor Richard Clarke—who was later to expose 
how utterly unconcerned Rice and Bush were 
about the threat of al-Qaeda terrorism when they 
came into office, and indeed, up until the very 
moment of the 9/11 attacks.

Unbeknownst to any of the 9/11 Commis-
sioners, Zelikow had, at Rice’s request, secretly 
authored the Administration’s National Security 

Strategy doctrine which, in its advocacy of pre-emptive 
war, overturned the nation’s entire military and diplo-
matic history.

At the Commission, Zelikow immediately central-
ized everything with himself, forbidding any direct 
contact between the staff and the ten Commissioners—
reducing the latter almost to the status of figureheads.

Worse, Zelikow was later found to be maintaining a 
secret back channel to the White House, with frequent 
calls with Rove and Rice.

The 28 Pages—Again
Under the law creating it, the 9/11 Commission 

was supposed to build its investigation upon the record 
of the Congressional Joint Inquiry. Graham was en-
couraged by the creation of an independent, biparti-
san commission, and was hopeful that it would get to 
the bottom of what had gone on with the Saudis in San 
Diego—which his Congressional Inquiry had been 
unable to do, because of pressure and stonewalling 
by the White House and the FBI.

Two staff investigators from the Joint Inquiry, Jus-
tice Department lawyer Dana Leseman and FBI coun-

2012 Munich Security Conference

Henry Kissinger was Karl Rove’s first choice to head the independent 
9/11 Commission, but he resigned abruptly after being asked by 9/11 
family members, “Do you have any Saudi clients?”
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terintelligence analyst Mike Jacobson, were brought 
onto the Commission staff, at the suggestion of one of 
the Democratic Commissioners, former Rep. Tim 
Roemer. Jacobson had been the primary author of the 
suppressed 28 pages.

Both Leseman and Jacobson were familiar with 
the Saudi investigation; moreover, they had the requi-
site security clearances, and they were anxious to 
follow through on the work they had started in the 
Congressional Inquiry. Jacobson did not have a copy 
of the classified 28 pages that he himself had written, 
so, early on, Leseman asked Zelikow to provide it to 
them.

Although all the documents of the Joint Inquiry 
were supposed to be available to the Commission, Ze-
likow refused.

When Zelikow later found out that Leseman had 
somehow managed to obtain a copy of the classified 
portions of the Congressional report anyway, he fired 
her on the spot. This, despite the fact that she needed the 
28 pages to do her job, she had the required clearances, 
and she handled the documents totally properly, always 
keeping them in the Commission’s offices, and locking 

them away at night. After this, no one, even Jacobson, 
dared to seek access to the secret 28 pages.

Zelikow, like the White House, had little interest in 
getting to the truth behind 9/11.

On to Baghdad
Meanwhile, in March 2003, Bush had ordered the 

long-planned invasion of Iraq, billing this as the next 
step in the “war on terror.” Zelikow faithfully followed 
Bush and Cheney’s lead, in attempting to concoct the 
case that Saddam Hussein was somehow linked to al-
Qaeda and the 9/11 attacks. Zelikow went so far as to 
feature, as a prominent witness in a July 2003 public 
hearing, the neo-con crackpot Laurie Mylroie, who 
blamed Iraq for just about every terrorist attack in the 
history of the world, including the 1993 and 2001 at-
tacks on the World Trade Center.

Shortly after this, 9/11 families’ representative Lori 
van Auken (who had earlier confronted Kissinger over 
whether he had any Saudi clients), tore into Zelikow at 
a meeting of families and the Commission staff. “That 
took a lot of nerve putting someone like that on the 
panel,” she said. “This is supposed to be an investiga-
tion of September 11. This is not supposed to be a sales 
pitch for the Iraq War.”

Zelikow’s pushing of the Iraq War was also a factor 
in the resignation from the Commission of former U.S. 
Sen. Max Cleland (D-Ga.). The other major element 
was Cleland’s perception that Tom Kean and the Com-
mission’s vice-chairman Lee Hamilton were totally un-
willing to confront the White House. Cleland later said 
he did not want to participate in the “whitewash” and 
coverup of 9/11 being orchestrated by the White House.

Saudis Questioned
Meanwhile, Mike Jacobson, who had originally un-

covered the evidence of the Saudi support network in 
San Diego, kept pushing the Saudi issue, particularly 
attempting to get access to Saudi intelligence agent 
Bayoumi, and also to Fahad al-Thumairy, a former 
Saudi diplomat who had been in contact with Hamzi 
and Mihdhar in Los Angeles. (Bayoumi fled to London 
after 9/11, where he was detained by Scotland Yard. 
When the FBI sent agents to London to interview him, 
the British, at the request of the Saudi Embassy in 
London, released him and allowed him to return to 
Saudi Arabia.7) Thumairy, a professed jihadist, was 

7.  “Was the Saudi Government Involved in the 9/11 Terror Attacks?” 

IBI/Anna Blau

Philip Zelikow, the executive director of the 9/11 Commission, 
forbade any direct contact between the Commission staff and 
the ten Commissioners, while maintaining a secret back 
channel to Karl Rove and Condoleezza Rice.
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technically not a diplomat; he worked for the Ministry 
of Islamic Affairs, and was the liaison from the Saudi 
Consulate to the Saudi-financed King Fahd Mosque in 
Los Angeles. In 2003, he was deported from the United 
States.

Jacobson and other investigators found evidence 
suggesting that Thumairy had orchestrated support for 
the hijackers through a network of Saudi expatriates 
and others, which included Bayoumi. They were anx-
ious to confront Thumairy with the evidence they had 
collected. In the interview in Riyadh, Thumairy was 
uncooperative, even denying that he knew Bayoumi, 
despite abundant evidence to the contrary. Later Com-
mission memos evaluated his answers as “deceptive” 
and his explanations as “implausible.”

Bayoumi was twice interviewed by Commission in-
vestigators, after which Zelikow—incredibly—ex-
pressed his view that Bayoumi was not a Saudi agent.

John Lehman, a former Navy Secretary and a Re-
publican Commissioner, was also concerned about 
the Saudi ties to 9/11, and particularly about the 
money flows from Bandar’s wife to San Diego. On a 
number of occasions, Lehman pressed the White 
House on the Saudi question, and, according to author 
Philip Shenon, he was struck by the White House’s 
determination to hide any evidence of the Saudi-al-
Qaeda relationship. “They were refusing to declassify 
anything having to do with Saudi Arabia,” Lehman 
told Shenon later. “Anything having to do with the 
Saudis, for some reason, it had this very special sensi-
tivity.”

When it came to writing the 9/11 Commission’s 
Final Report, Jacobson and others, believing that they 
had explosive evidence on the Saudi government con-
nections to the hijackers, tried to get their material in-
cluded in the body of the report, but it was downgraded, 
and relegated to the footnotes.

The Saudi Embassy in Washington was so happy 
with the final report, claiming that it “debunked the 
myths” about Saudi involvement, that they posted ex-
cerpts on the Embassy website.

Obama’s Promises
When Barack Obama took office in 2009, hopes 

were raised that he might release the 28 pages. Shortly 
after his inauguration, some of the 9/11 family mem-

Daily Beast, March 13, 2012, citing Newsweek.

bers met with Obama, who assured them that he would 
get the 28 pages released. Bill Doyle, whose son died in 
the World Trade Center, says that Obama promised him 
personally that he would release them. Graham states 
that he too was promised that Obama would release the 
missing pages.

But tellingly, within a few months of taking office, 
the Obama Administration filed a brief with the U.S. 
Supreme Court in support of Saudi royal family mem-
bers who were seeking to defeat a lawsuit by 9/11 fam-
ilies trying to hold the Saudis responsible for the 9/11 
attacks. “I find this reprehensible,” said Kristen Breit-
weiser, a leader of the families. “One would have hoped 
that the Obama Administration would have taken a dif-
ferent stance than the Bush Administration.”

The Sarasota Revelations
The Obama Administration didn’t just carry on the 

Bush-Cheney coverup; it added a new one of its own.
In September 2011 (as EIR has reported8), dramatic 

new disclosures came to light, linking Saudi nationals 
living in Sarasota, Fla., to a number of the 9/11 hijack-
ers. What emerged was that shortly before Sept. 11, 
2001, a wealthy Saudi family abrupty fled from their 
luxury home in Sarasota; subsequent investigations re-
vealed that a number of the future hijackers, including 
lead hijacker Mohamed Atta (who crashed into the 
North Tower of the World Trade Center) had visited the 
house, and others had been in telephone contact. Secu-
rity records of the gated community showed that two 
other hijacker-pilots, Marwan al-Shehhi (South 
Tower, World Trade Center) and Ziad Jarrah (Flight 
93, which crashed in Pennsylvania) had also visited this 
particular house. All three had taken flight lessons at the 
Venice Airport, less than 20 miles from the Sarasota 
house.

The house in question was owned by Esam Ghaz-
zawi, who had been a financial advisor to a high-rank-
ing member of the Saudi royal family, Prince Fahd bin 
Salman. (Prince Fahd’s father is a brother of King 
Fahd; his younger brother, Prince Ahmed bin Salman, 
was one of three Saudi princes who died suddenly in the 
Summer of 2002, after reportedly being identified as 

8.  See, for example, Edward Spannaus and Jeffrey Steinberg, “More 
Explosive Evidence of Saudi Support for 9/11 Hijackers,” EIR, Sept. 
23, 2011.

http://larouchepub.com/eiw/public/2011/eirv38n37- 20110923/21-23_3837.pdf
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financiers of al-Qaeda and the 9/11 attacks.)9

Also living in the Ghazzawi house were his daugh-
ter and her husband, Abdulazzi al-Hiijjii. Al-Hiijjii 
fled to London, where, ten years later, he was living in 
a luxury flat, and working for Aramco Overseas Com-
pany UK Limited, a subsidiary of the Saudi Arabian 
state oil company.

After the Sarasota story surfaced, former Senator 

9.  See footnote 4.

Graham told the Daily Beast, “There’s no question in 
my mind that the Saudi government was involved in 
9/11.”

“This is the most important thing about 9/11 to sur-
face in the last seven or eight years,” Graham told the 
St. Petersburg Times. “It’s very important for the White 
House to take control of this situation. The key um-
brella question is: What was the full extent of Saudi 
involvement prior to 9/11, and why did the U.S. Admin-
istration cover this up?”

Graham: Hijackers Needed 
The Saudi Support Network

In a Sept. 15, 2011 interview with Democracy Now!, 
former U.S. Sen. Bob Graham said the following:

“One of the questions around 9/11 is whether 
these 19 hijackers were operating alone or whether 
they had a support network that assisted them and 
gave them anonymity. It’s been my feeling that it was 
very unlikely that they could have been successful 
without such a network. We know a great deal about 
the network component that existed in San Diego. 
What we’ve just learned is about another pod of this 
network in Sarasota.

“What we know to date is that there was a wealthy 
Saudi family living in a gated community near Sara-
sota, which had numerous contacts with Atta, the 
leader of the hijackers, and two others who were 
doing their [airline] pilot training near Sarasota. We 
also know that this family left the United States 
under what appear to be very urgent circumstances 
on August the 30th, 2001, just before 9/11.”

When asked how his concerns about the Saudi 
role in 9/11 had developed, Graham responded:

“Well, it started with the disbelief that 19 people, 
most of whom didn’t speak English, had never been 
in the United States, could have come here, plotted, 
practiced, and then executed such a complex plan as 
9/11. My assumption had been that they had some 
support system that was already in place in the 
United States, which facilitated their activities. We 
learned a lot about such a facilitation in San Diego. 

Now we’re beginning to learn about Sarasota. The 
question in my mind is, what happened in places 
like Arlington, Virginia; Paterson, New Jersey; 
Phoenix, Arizona; Delray Beach, Florida, where we 
know hijackers lived for a considerable period of 
time? Were there similar facilitators in those com-
munities?

“Right after the first Persian Gulf War, the mon-
archy in Saudi Arabia became very concerned that 
they were going to be the next Iran, a youth-led 
revolt. In order to avoid that, one of the steps they 
took was to begin to establish monitors in those 
areas of the world where there were significant num-
bers of Saudi youth, particularly college and univer-
sity students.

“One of those places was San Diego. The man 
who was listed by the FBI, described prior to 9/11 as 
a Saudi agent, had the responsibility of that monitor-
ing in Southern California, but he also, in January of 
2000, took on a second task, which was to provide 
assistance to two Saudis who had recently entered 
the country. We know that they had been very impor-
tant and experienced operatives of al-Qaeda, be-
cause, among other things, they had just attended a 
summit of terrorists held in Kuala Lumpur, Malay-
sia, the first week in January in 2000. Bayoumi, the 
agent in San Diego, and Bassnan, who was the suc-
cessor to Bayoumi, provided substantial assistance 
to these two men.

“Now, it appears in Sarasota that the facilitators 
may not have come from the same network of per-
sons who were monitoring students, but rather from 
people who were close to the [Saudi] royal family 
and were considered reliable, and who were given 
this assignment of helping hijackers.”
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In a Sept. 15, 2011 interview on Democracy Now!, 
Graham described the Saudi “support network” for the 
9/11 terrorists that the Congressional Inquiry had un-
covered earlier in San Diego, and said, “We’ve just 
learned about another pod of this network in Sarasota.”

“What we know to date,” Graham said, “is that there 
was a wealthy Saudi family living in a gated commu-
nity near Sarasota, which had numerous contacts with 
Atta, the leader of the hijackers, and two others who 
were doing their pilot training near Sarasota. We also 
know that this family left the United States under what 
appear to be very urgent circumstances on August 30, 
2001, just before 9/11.” Graham stressed that the FBI 
did not tell the Congressional Joint Inquiry about the 
Saudi hijacker contacts in Sarasota, just as it had not 
disclosed the San Diego network until his investigators 
discovered it.

Graham in Federal Court
In May 2013, in a declaration filed in Federal court 

in Florida, Graham called for the FBI to make full dis-
closure of all documents relating to its investigation of 
the Sarasota Saudis. After describing the FBI’s failure 
to provide the relevant information to both the Joint In-
quiry and the 9/11 Commission, he declared:  “I am 
deeply troubled by what appears to me to be a persistent 
effort by the FBI to conceal from the American people 
information concerning possible Saudi support of the 
9/11 attacks.” Graham was joined in his call for full dis-
closure by the organization representing 6,600 survi-
vors and relatives of those injured and killed in the 9/11 
attacks.

What triggered Graham’s and the 9/11 families’ new 
demands, were statements made by the FBI in a Free-
dom of Information Act (FOIA) lawsuit pending in 
Federal court in Fort Lauderdale, Fla. After the FBI at 
first denied that there was any connection between the 
Sarasota Saudi family and the 9/11 attacks, the Bureau 
then claimed, in Spring 2013, that disclosure of certain 
classified information about the Saudi family “would 
reveal current specific targets of the FBI’s national se-
curity investigations.”

In his court declaration in May, Graham also pointed 
out to the court, that the section of the Joint Inquiry’s 
report that deals with Saudi support for the hijackers is 
still being withheld from the public. “The 28-page sec-
tion of the Inquiry’s Final Report dealing with ‘sources 
of foreign support for some of the Sept. 11 hijackers,’ 
remains classified to this day even though declassifica-
tion would not, in my opinion, endanger national secu-
rity.”

‘Stop Protecting Saudi Potentates’
Almost immediately after Graham made his court 

filing, the group representing survivors and relatives of 
those injured and killed in the 9/11 attacks issued its 
own statement, which said:

“The Steering Committee of the 9/11 Families 
United To Bankrupt Terrorism endorses the efforts of 
investigative reporters Dan Christensen and Anthony 
Summers and calls on the FBI to come clean regarding 
an investigation involving a Saudi family, former resi-
dents of Sarasota, Fla., who may have provided aid to 
the 9/11 hijackers.”

Sharon Premoli of Dorset, Vt., who had been pulled 
from the rubble of the World Trade Center, stated: 
“After almost 12 years, the time has come for the De-
partment of Justice, the FBI and this administration to 
give the American people access to the truth about who 
financed the murder of 3,000 people on 9/11. It is simply 
implausible that release of this information would in-
terfere with any current national security investigation. 
Rather, the FBI’s obstruction creates at least the percep-
tion of a cover-up to protect Saudi potentates.”

Although there is some question as to who has the 
power to declassify and release the 28 pages dealing 
with the Saudis—Congress or the Obama Administra-
tion—the families put the onus directly on Obama.

“First President Obama promises me personally to 
release the 28 pages removed from the Congressional 
committees’ report and doesn’t, and now the FBI is 

Former Senator Graham has continued to press the issue of 
reopening the 9/11 investigation and releasing substantial 
sections of the redacted 28 pages. He is shown here on Sept. 
15, 2011.
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pulling this stunt,” said Bill Doyle. “The FBI keeps 
contradicting itself. On one hand, they say they found 
no evidence connecting the Sarasota Saudis to 9/11. On 
the other hand, they say releasing the information 
would threaten national security. But they can’t have it 
both ways. And the Courts should not let them get away 
with it.”

“I think that in the period immediately after 9/11 the 
FBI was under instructions from the Bush White House 
not to discuss anything that could be embarrassing to the 
Saudis,” Graham was quoted by MSNBC as saying in 
March 2012. “It is more inexplicable why the Obama 
Administration has been reticent to pursue the question 
of Saudi involvement. For both administrations, there 
was and continues to be an obligation to inform the 
American people through truthful information.”

As recently as July 13, 2013, Graham has continued 
to press the issue. In a Miami Herald op-ed, entitled 
“Questions for Obama,” Graham took up the Presi-
dent’s recent call for “a national debate on liberty and 
security in post 9/11 America.”

“I welcome this call,” Graham wrote, “but the dif-
ficulties with your proposal include: how to have a 
debate on a subject you don’t know exists; and how to 

have a debate if the facts necessary to engage in an in-
formed discussion are withheld.”

Graham cited the Sarasota situation, which, he said, 
raises questions such as: “Could the 19 hijackers have 
conducted such a complex operation alone?” and “Did 
the terrorists have the support of a network, perhaps di-
rected by elements of a foreign nation-state?” After re-
viewing the basic facts of the Sarasota situation, 
Graham then posed a series of questions for Obama, 
which include: “Why have the Saudis been treated in a 
distinctively different manner than other nationalities?” 
Graham pointed out that “this stark difference was 
highlighted after the Boston marathon bombing in 
April. Within hours of the massacre, the FBI was ag-
gressively investigating whether the two Muslim Rus-
sian Chechen bombers had acted with the connivance 
of Muslims from Russia’s volatile North Caucasus 
region. Yet, more than 10 years after 9/11, it appears 
everything possible is being done to conceal Saudi as-
sistance to the 19 hijackers.”

Indeed it is.
Jeffrey Steinberg, Michele Steinberg, Edward Span-

naus, John Hoefle, and Hussein Askary contributed to 
this report. 
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